
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

55 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, (aka GEORGE HALES) 

JASON HIPSHER (aka “JAYHIP”),  

MEGAN M. FOX (aka, MEGAN FOX),  

MATTHEW LEWIS (aka “THAT UMBRELLA GUY”) 

JOHN DOE (aka “SHIZZYWIZNUT”) 

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

PLAINTIFF’S NOTICE OF CEASE & DESIST LETTER TO FACEBOOK/META 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE attached “Cease & Desist” Letter to Facebook/Meta 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

6/15/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
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Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

Phone: 407-592-0035 

Email: michael@civilestatelaw.com 

6/15/25 

Legal Department 

Facebook, Inc. 

Facebook/Meta 

 

Registered Agent: 

Corporation Service Company 

1201 Hays Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32301 

 

Re: Notice of Intent to Add Facebook, Inc. as Defendant – Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

Dear Sir or Madam, 

I represent the Plaintiff in the above-referenced matter currently pending before the Orange 

County, Florida,  Case No. 2025-CA-004528. 

This letter serves as formal notice that Facebook, Inc., through its platform and specifically the 

forum known as “What the Hales,” is currently being used to facilitate unlawful conduct, 

including but not limited to defamation, harassment, and invasion of privacy against my client. 

Despite repeated reports and requests, the forum continues to be a venue for these harmful 

activities. 

If Facebook does not promptly take effective and comprehensive measures to prevent the 

continued misuse of its platform in connection with the actions alleged in the lawsuit, we will 

have no choice but to seek to add Facebook, Inc. as a defendant in this case. 

Please govern yourselves accordingly and confirm in writing within 10 business days the specific 

steps Facebook intends to take to address and remedy this issue. 

Thank you for your prompt attention to this serious matter. 

Sincerely, 

Michael Ferderigos 



Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

michael@civilestatelaw.com 

407-592-0035 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, (aka GEORGE HALES) 

JASON HIPSHER (aka “JAYHIP”),  

MEGAN M. FOX (aka, MEGAN FOX),  

MATTHEW LEWIS (aka “THAT UMBRELLA GUY”) 

JOHN DOE (aka “SHIZZYWIZNUT”) 

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

2nd AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, LESLIE FERDERIGOS, by and through undersigned counsel, alleges as follows for 

her Complaint against Defendants: 

VENUE AND JURISDICTION 

1. This is an action for damages in excess of $75,000.00, exclusive of interest, costs, and 

attorneys’ fees, and is within the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial 

Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida. 

2. Venue is proper in Orange County, Florida because the acts and omissions giving rise to 

these claims occurred in substantial part in this County, as the action took place in Orange 

County, Florida 
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PARTIES 

1. PLAINTIFF, LESLIE FERDERIGOS, is an individual residing in Orange County, Florida. 

At the time the online attacks against her began, she was not a reporter and had no intention 

of building a significant following on YouTube; her channel, which had only seven 

subscribers, was used solely for posting interviews at the request of acquaintances. 

PLAINTIFF now earns a living by assisting her husband with legal research and drafting 

at his law firm and by providing legal research and paralegal services to licensed Florida 

attorneys as a retired attorney. Additionally, it is public record that PLAINTIFF, is an ADA 

protected class. 

2. DEFENDANT, JEREMY HALES, is an individual domiciled in Summit County, Ohio. 

He owns and operates a YouTube channel with over 730,000 followers, where he routinely 

posts content about personal lawsuits, disputes with neighbors, and storage auctions. He is 

considered at the top of this scheme, where he secures those below him high view counts 

for attacking those adversarial to his position, while promoting his narrative. He is the main 

ringleader behind the attack of the PLAINTIFF. 

3. Defendant, MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, also known as “GEORGE HALES” (“Rizk”), is 

an individual believed domiciled at 351 SW State Road 24, Otter Creek, Florida, Levy 

County, Florida. DEFENDANT RIZK is a frequent collaborator and romantic partner of 

DEFENDANT HALES, and regularly appears on Hales’s YouTube channel, related social 

media platforms, and is considered partners with. Rizk, under the alias “George Hales,” 

has participated in the creation, publication, and dissemination of false and defamatory 

statements about Plaintiff, and has engaged in coordinated online harassment as further 

described herein. 
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4. MATTHEN LEWIS (aka “THAT UMBRELLA GUY”), domiciled in Tennessee 

5. MEGAN M. FOX (aka, MEGAN FOX), domiciled at Naples, NY, holds herself publicly 

as an investigative reporter, who works directly with DEFENDANT HALES, to ensure 

those who speak adversarial against DEFENDANT HALES are ostracized publicly in a a 

campaign that DEFENDANT HALES secures high views counts for.  

6. JOHN DOE (aka “SHIZZYWIZNUT”) domiciled unknown, holds himself publicly as a 

YouTube influencer, who works directly with DEFENDANT HALES, to ensure those 

who speak adversarial against DEFENDANT HALES are ostracized publicly in a a 

campaign that DEFENDANT HALES secures high views counts for.  

7. JASON HIPSHER (aka “JAYHIP”), domiciled in Omaha, Nebraska, holds himself 

publicly as a YouTube influencer, who works directly with DEFENDANT HALES, to 

ensure those who speak adversarial against DEFENDANT HALES are ostracized 

publicly in a a campaign that DEFENDANT HALES secures high views counts for. 

8.  DEFENDANT, ELEPHANT SHOES, LLC, is a business the Defendant, Jeremy Hales, 

owns that operates and holds his profits derived from his YouTube Channel and is 

registered in Florida. 

9. DEFENDANTS JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10 are individuals whose identities are presently 

unknown but who participated in the publication and dissemination of defamatory 

statements as described herein. 

BACKGROUND OF DEFENDANT HALES & HIS YOUTUBE CHANNEL 

10. DEFENDANT HALES, content is built on provoking controversy with 3rd parties and has 

led to Injunctions for protection by various targeted 3rd parties, in which the DEFENDANT 
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HALES and DEFENDANT RIZK publicly mock on published videos. And where 

DEFENDANT HALES, has been found to violate past stalking injunctions, having no 

regard to the law. 

EXHIBIT B: Example of Defendant Hales violating stalking injunctions against him.  

11. Many viewers find his content obnoxious, as he often disparages, humiliates, and mocks 

neighbors and opposing attorneys involved in lawsuits against him by mocking their 

appearance, religious backgrounds, age, and other personal traits. His audience is primarily 

rural ages 45-75 years old, compiled of both males and females,  additionally pulling a 

large international audience as well. 

EXHIBIT A: Example of thumbnails he uses to entice viewers of his videos, where he 

depicts neighbors and adversarial attorneys in a false and disparaging light. This has led 

to attorneys refusing to represent parties to avoid the public online harassment campaign. 
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INTRODUCTION TO THE ORCHESTRATED ATTACK AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF 

12. This action arises from a deliberate, coordinated campaign of online harassment, 

defamation, and reputational sabotage orchestrated by Defendant Jeremy Hales and his 

associates, including, but not limited to, Defendants Megan Fox, Jay Hip, and others. 

Plaintiff, a retired attorney who now assists her husband’s law firm, became the target of 

this campaign after participating in a neutral interview regarding ongoing litigation 
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involving Defendant Hales. What began as a single Facebook post about a mutual 

acquaintance escalated rapidly, as Defendants weaponized their significant online 

following to publish and amplify hundreds of false, malicious statements about Plaintiff.  

13. These attacks, carried out across public Facebook groups and live YouTube broadcasts, 

included defamatory claims about Plaintiff’s professional status, personal life, and mental 

health, and were calculated to destroy her reputation and livelihood.  

14. Despite Plaintiff’s repeated efforts to correct the record and halt the harassment—including 

providing sworn affidavits from the Florida Bar—Defendants persisted, recruiting 

followers, encouraging hate sites, and profiting from live donations rooted in the continued 

dissemination of these falsehoods. The conduct at issue has caused severe, ongoing harm 

to Plaintiff’s personal and professional life, necessitating judicial intervention and redress. 

INTRODUCTION TO DEFENDANT(S) SUBSCRIBER SCHEME 

15. Defendants are misleading the public while presenting themselves as advocates for 

transparency and truth. Defendant Hales has orchestrated a concerted scheme designed to 

manipulate viewership analytics, silence dissent, and financially benefit those who 

participate in his campaign. This operation is not a matter of speculation—it is a calculated 

effort that rewards loyalty to Hales with inflated followers, increased visibility, and 

monetary compensation, while punishing those who refuse to participate. 

16. Data analysis shows that creators who align themselves with Hales, including Megan Fox, 

“That Umbrella Guy,” and Jay Hipp, have experienced dramatic spikes in their online 

metrics soon after joining his circle and promoting his narrative. This is not mere 

coincidence. The evidence indicates that these creators have been incentivized to support 
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Hales’ agenda and, in return, have reaped significant online and financial benefits. Those 

who decline to participate or who attempt to expose the scheme have faced targeted 

harassment, defamation, and orchestrated attacks intended to damage their reputations and 

silence their voices. 

17. This pattern of behavior extends beyond simple online rivalry. It constitutes a systematic 

campaign to manipulate public opinion and stifle free expression. The coordinated use of 

fake accounts, cyber harassment, and intimidation tactics demonstrates an intention to 

suppress dissent and maintain control over the narrative. The goal is not just personal profit, 

but the creation of an environment where truth-telling is punished and misinformation is 

rewarded. 

18. The consequences of this scheme are far-reaching. When public discourse is subject to 

manipulation through coordinated misinformation and intimidation, the integrity of online 

platforms—and by extension, the rights of individuals to express themselves freely—is 

fundamentally undermined. This is not merely “YouTube drama”; it is a matter of public 

concern that warrants legal scrutiny and redress. 

19. Evidence supporting these claims includes timelines, digital communications, and 

analytics data that clearly illustrate the existence and operation of this scheme. While some 

material is reserved for ongoing litigation, the available public evidence is sufficient to 

establish a pattern of conduct that is both deliberate and damaging. The public deserves 

transparency, and those responsible for orchestrating and benefiting from such schemes 

must be held accountable. 

20. It is essential for the court to recognize the seriousness of this conduct and its impact on 

both individuals and the broader public. Only through legal action can we ensure that those 
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who manipulate, intimidate, and profit at the expense of honest discourse are brought to 

justice. The pursuit of truth and the protection of free expression depend on the willingness 

to expose and address such schemes wherever they appear. 

FACTS 

21. On or about April 26, 2025, Plaintiff, a retired lawyer who assists her husband with his 

law firm and is not in the business of reporting, observed a disturbing post on Facebook 

concerning a mutual acquaintance who was an investigative reporter. Out of concern, 

Plaintiff notified the acquaintance about the post. Subsequently, the acquaintance requested 

that Plaintiff interview him regarding lawsuits filed by Defendant Hales, as Plaintiff was a 

retired attorney who could better understand the legal issues.  

22. Plaintiff agreed to conduct the interview, maintaining neutrality and posing questions to 

the acquaintance in his capacity as a reporter. At the acquaintance’s request, Plaintiff also 

attempted to contact another reporter, Defendant Fox, who holds herself to be an 

investigative reporter, often providing legal commentary on public issues and who had 

previously reported favorably on issues involving Defendant Hales, seeking to present a 

balanced perspective. 

23. On April 27, 2025, Plaintiff emailed Defendant Fox to schedule an interview but received 

no response. On April 29, 2025, Plaintiff conducted the interview with the acquaintance, 

maintaining neutrality and objectivity throughout. On or about May 5, 2025, Plaintiff’s 

acquaintance, undisclosed to Plaintiff until after it was published, published the interview 

with Plaintiff in a Facebook group titled “What the Hales.” [EXHIBIT A – timeline 

exhibits] 
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24. On or about May 6, 2025, Ania Waterman, working for Defendant Hales from Ireland, 

began targeting and attacking Plaintiff online, while commenting she is in touch with 

Defendant Hales. Additionally, Defendant Hales made statements during live broadcasts 

that Plaintiff was sending Ania Waterman harassing emails. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 

25. On or about May 13, 2025, Plaintiff was directed to a Facebook public group titled “What 

the Hales,” using Defendant Hales’ logo, where she observed herself being attacked by 

group members who are supporters and followers of Defendants Hales and Rizk. It is 

important to note, Defendant Hales proactively reports any usage of his logo without 

permission to be taken down and has maintained this Facebook group with over 5,000 

members responsible for the online harassment against Plaintiff and others. 

26. From May 5, 2025, until present, on this Facebook group, false and defamatory 

statements were published about Plaintiff, including assertions that she was “knocked up 

by her acquaintance” (despite being a married woman), that she was “an idiot,” “mental 

and off her meds,” and that she was “a disbarred attorney,” among many other false and 

harassing comments. These comments exceed hundreds of publications on this public 

Facebook group, which comes up in Google searches under Plaintiff’s legal name. 

Additionally, these posts, upon search, are registered as international accounts, containing 

no true photographs, and only muppet or animal depictions. [EXHIBIT A – timeline 

exhibits] 

27. On or about May 15, 2025, members of the Facebook group began posting that Plaintiff 

is a disbarred attorney, among voluminous insults and harassment. This has continued to 

date. Comments imply Plaintiff is a transsexual, Plaintiff is crazy and off her meds, and 

Plaintiff just wants to grow her YouTube channel. Clients began calling Plaintiff to inform 
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her they are seeing the online attack against her and feel bad for her. Within a day, over 

500 people subscribed to Plaintiff’s YouTube channel and began making berating 

comments to Plaintiff about being a failed, disbarred attorney. Additionally, Plaintiff began 

receiving harassing emails from those endorsing Defendant Hales. Plaintiff provided all 

parties with the sworn affidavit from the Florida Bar; however, they continued to falsely 

state Plaintiff retired to evade disbarment and falsely posted the reasons for her retirement. 

These harassing emails continue to date. [EXHIBIT A – timeline exhibits][EXHIBIT E] 

28. Plaintiff also witnessed parties Defendant Hales is suing in a federal lawsuit filed by Hales, 

Case No. 1:25cv58/RH/ZCB, being targeted by this Facebook “hate group” titled “What 

the Hales” with hateful language, threats, and posts intended to damage their reputations. 

These included accusations of criminal conduct, ridicule of their appearance, and anti-

Semitic remarks, among other hateful content. Despite voluminous attempts to report made 

by those being attacked, Facebook to date refuses to take this group down. [EXHIBIT B – 

Notice of Google search, etc.] 

29. Plaintiff was provided with extensive video footage of Defendant Hales and Defendant 

Rizk, which had been published on Hales’s YouTube channel, titled “What the Hales.” In 

these videos, Defendant Hales stated that he was not filing lawsuits for justice against 

various parties, did not care about court opinions, and was filing lawsuits solely to keep 

parties in his lawsuits tied up in court and to “drain and ruin them financially.” Defendant 

Hales expressly stated that litigation was about destroying the lives of those he sues, and 

he broadcast these statements and his ridicule of various targeted parties to his audience of 

over 730,000 followers. Additionally, Defendant Hales’ YouTube channel “What the 

Hales” included thumbnails and video coverage where Hales referred to parties he is suing 
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in his lawsuits as criminals, mocked their appearance, and made anti-Semitic remarks, 

among other hateful statements. 

30. On or about May 16, 2025, Megan Fox, That Umbrella Guy, and Jay Hip began to go live 

in front of thousands of people, stating and mocking Plaintiff as a failed attorney who 

retired to evade disbarment. Plaintiff was subsequently invited by YouTube reporters, who 

were also named as defendants in Defendant Hales’ federal lawsuits, to participate in their 

shows following the online harassment attack she had been victim of. Plaintiff conducted 

another interview in which these YouTube reporters, and during interviews, notified 

Plaintiff that they were being attacked by Defendant Hales, causing them harm and needing 

to voice their side of the events publicly to provide rebuttal material to that which was 

circulating throughout online forums. 

31. Following Plaintiff’s participation in these interviews, the Facebook group “What the 

Hales” continued publishing false written statements that Plaintiff was a disbarred attorney 

and made fun of her appearance, among other insults. These publications continue to date. 

32. On or about May 16, 2025, in response to the attacks, and Facebook’s refusal to take 

down this hate group and in hopes it would get them to stop. Plaintiff began to create a 

satirical video series called the “HoDunk Hillbillies” and gave it to Lisa Weeks, Supa Dave, 

Bruce, Rich Luthmann, Attorney Bruce, and Michael Volpe to post after seeing how they 

were all being attacked by Jeremy Hales and his supporters, to depict how she was viewing 

this situation and attacks against her, not using anyone’s names and making it clear it was 

satire. 

33. On May 18, 2025, Defendant Hipsher hosted a live YouTube broadcast during which he 

mocked Plaintiff’s appearance and falsely stated that she retired to avoid disbarment.  
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34. On May 19, 2025, Defendant Hales and Defendant Rizk hosted a live video on their 

YouTube channel, soliciting and receiving donations, while publishing false statements 

about Plaintiff, including the claim that she retired only to avoid disbarment. During this 

same week, Defendant Hip participated and discussed Plaintiff, repeating defamatory 

statements. Immediately following this live broadcast, Plaintiff emailed Defendant Hales 

and Defendant Hip a cease and desist letter, attaching an affidavit from her state bar 

confirming that her retirement from legal practice was not to avoid disbarment. Defendant 

Hales responded, “See you in Court.” 

35. On May 19, 2025, Plaintiff filed a lawsuit, later amending it to name Jeremy Hales, Jay 

Hip, and George Hales after sending Defendant Fox a cease and desist in which Fox 

responded by calling the attorney a “Dummy.” [EXHIBIT B – Notice of Google search, 

etc.] 

36. On or about May 21, 2025, hate groups mocking Plaintiff were created on Facebook, 

where Plaintiff’s physical appearance was mocked, with her name tagged publicly. Megan 

Fox hosted a live broadcast making a mockery out of Plaintiff’s lawsuit against everyone, 

encouraging an audience, while posting personal family law cases involving Plaintiff. 

[EXHIBIT C]  

37. On or about May 21, 2025, during Jay Hip’s live broadcast with Megan Fox, Jeremy 

Hales made it known he was watching and participated through written comments. The 

broadcast included several jabs and references directed at someone described as a 

“disbarred” attorney. Jeremy Hales made a remark: “it's amazing how the felons, disbarred, 

wig-wearing, Botox, botched plastic surgery people flock together,” clearly lumping the 

“disbarred” person in with a group he’s mocking. There was also a live chat comment 
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referring to “the disbarred Florida attorney,” further singling out Plaintiff. Regarding 

“lips,” the conversation turned to mocking someone nicknamed “Legally Liable Lips,” 

joking she used to work as a puppet or a Muppet, specifically comparing her to Janice from 

the Muppets, and stating her character was made to look just like her, calling it “uncanny” 

and a “disservice to the Muppets,” clearly using “lips” as a target for ridicule related to her 

appearance and possibly manner of speaking. 

38. From May 21, 2025, until May 27, 2025, Plaintiff became debilitated, depressed, and 

almost hospitalized due to all defendant(s) actions which exacerbated by her ADA 

protected disability. Plaintiff deleted every one of her social media accounts to evade the 

attack. However, they continued to attack her on multiple social media forums during live 

and Facebook posts and emails directly sent to her following this. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 

39. On or about May 26, 2025, and subsequent to Plaintiff filing her initial complaint against 

Defendants Hales, Rizk, and Hip, Defendant Fox and Defendant Umbrella Guy began 

publishing comments about Plaintiff’s private life for an audience on YouTube and 

continued to promote the narrative that Plaintiff is a disbarred attorney. They continued to 

publish daily broadcasts in which they insulted, belittled, demeaned, and made false 

statements about Plaintiff, spending the majority of their broadcasts discussing Plaintiff’s 

life, referring to Plaintiff as being “mental, crazy, off her meds, a crazy bitch,” etc. 

40. Defendant Fox stated that Plaintiff created revenge porn about Defendant Fox, resulting in 

Plaintiff receiving voluminous hate emails to her work.[1] 1 

 
1 [1] The revenge porn referenced was created by a third party and was publicly mentioned in a federal lawsuit and 

public record. Plaintiff merely conducted an interview with her acquaintance and a defendant in Defendant’s federal 

lawsuit and asked them about the allegations against them, which is how the video was discussed and brought up. 

Additionally, the video in question was satire and not considered revenge porn nor does it show anything that could 

be considered porn. Despite this, as soon as Defendant Fox made Plaintiff aware she did not approve of the video on 

May 19, 2025, Plaintiff deleted the interview and never reposted the interview. 
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41. On May 27, 2025, Plaintiff amended her complaint to add Megan Fox and That Umbrella 

Guy after witnessing them making statements to imply she retired to evade disbarment.  

42. On May 27, 2025, Plaintiff opened a YouTube channel for the purpose of having her own 

voice against those who were attacking her. Plaintiff began making satirical videos 

mocking those who were attacking and spreading false statements about her. [EXHIBIT A 

– Timeline] 

43. All Defendants recruited supporters and followers to create online “hate sites” about 

Plaintiff and continued to harass Plaintiff daily through these social media posts, hate sites, 

and YouTube live streams. Plaintiff was forced to delete all her social media accounts to 

avoid seeing these “hate sites,” and clients began to ask her why such sites were being 

published against her. All Defendants assisted and recruited followers to alter Plaintiff’s 

photographs—making her appear as a clown, with exaggerated lips—and located 

childhood pictures of Plaintiff, which they used to further mock her appearance. Plaintiff 

was branded by the name “LIPS” and “LEGALLY LIPS.” All Defendants profited 

pursuant to live donations they received during these live streams, using Plaintiff’s image, 

reporting on Plaintiff’s private life, personal information, false statements, and using 

international third parties to harass Plaintiff all over the internet, essentially ruining her 

online reputation and professional image. 

44. On or about June 3, 2025, supporters of Hales, in contact with him, began to harass 

Plaintiff’s children and family. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline]  

45. On June 7, 2025, YouTube influencer DJ Rattis, who is endorsed by Hales and makes 

money from his YouTube channel, and who is domiciled in Australia, published a video 
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where he used Plaintiff’s image and voice and created a false interview depicting her in a 

demeaning light, while tagging her legal name as the heading. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline]  

46. Plaintiff reported this to YouTube and created a satirical video tagging DJ Rattis’ name 

and challenging him to a dance off to try and make humor from the situation. DJ Rattis 

then created an insulting song where he published it, using Plaintiff’s name, while calling 

her a fail, loser, among other insulting language. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 

47. On or about June 5, 2025, Plaintiff reached out to Jay Hip in an attempt to settle 

everything and to gain confirmation that he and others would not keep falsely reporting 

about the status of her retirement. In this conversation, she said insults are one thing, but 

false statements affecting her professional reputation and livelihood cannot be tolerated 

because she works for her husband’s law firm and has clients who are seeing these posts 

and questioning whether or not she was disbarred. In this conversation, Jay Hip informed 

Plaintiff that he is in contact with Megan Fox and That Umbrella Guy and requested she 

drop them too. Plaintiff stated she would not be dropping the lawsuit, but as long as they 

would not continue to falsely report about her retirement status, she would drop both 

Megan Fox and That Umbrella Guy. However, the following week they continued to 

falsely report about Plaintiff’s retirement status. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 

48. On or about June 7, 2025, Ania Waterman, in contact with Defendant Hales, sent an email 

harassing Plaintiff, to which Plaintiff responded civilly, trying to get her to stop. After 

Plaintiff agreed to apologize because Ania Waterman told Plaintiff she had autism, Ania 

Waterman began posting publicly, clearly intended to make Plaintiff appear as if she was 

picking on a vulnerable person. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 
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49. From or about May 27, 2025, until present, Megan Fox and That Umbrella Guy continued 

to report that Plaintiff retired to evade disbarment, despite being emailed the Florida Bar’s 

sworn affidavit that evidences this is false. Megan Fox claimed she spoke to the Florida 

Bar and that Plaintiff retired to evade disbarment. She proceeded to call Plaintiff a “crazy 

bitch,” and both she and That Umbrella Guy made comments about Plaintiff’s mental 

health, claiming she is off her meds and crazy. [EXHIBIT A – Timeline] 

50. Plaintiff’s reputation online has been completely ruined as a professional. [See EXHIBIT 

B] Defendant Hales refuses to be noticed in the aforementioned case as to the evidence and 

continues to tell the clerk of court to take him off the e-service list, claiming he is an 

interested party/attorney, failing to tell the clerk of court he is a named defendant. [Exhibit 

D]  

51. To date, Plaintiff continues to receive harassing emails and has suffered substantial 

damages in result of the Defendants actions. [EXHIBIT E]  

52. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all Notices filed containing exhibits of evidence in 

support of this 2nd Amended Complaint. 

CAUSE OF ACTION:  

COUNT I(A): DEFAMATION (LIBEL AND SLANDER) 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 52 as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and other 

individuals identified in the preceding paragraphs, acting individually and in concert, 

intentionally published and/or republished false and defamatory statements about Plaintiff 
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across multiple social media platforms, including but not limited to Facebook and 

YouTube. 

55. On or about April 26, 2025, Plaintiff, a retired attorney assisting her husband’s law firm 

and not in the business of reporting, became involved in an interview at the request of a 

mutual acquaintance, an investigative reporter, regarding lawsuits filed by Defendant 

Hales. Plaintiff maintained neutrality and objectivity during the interview and sought, at 

the acquaintance’s request, to include Defendant Fox to ensure a balanced perspective.  

56. On or about May 5, 2025, this interview was published without Plaintiff’s prior knowledge 

in the Facebook group “What the Hales,” a group maintained by Defendant Hales and 

known for targeting individuals involved in litigation with him. 

57. Shortly thereafter, beginning on or about May 6, 2025, Defendants and their associates, 

including Ania Waterman, from Ireland, acting in coordination with Defendant Hales, 

initiated a coordinated campaign of online harassment and defamation against Plaintiff. 

This included public statements, both in Facebook groups and live YouTube broadcasts, 

falsely accusing Plaintiff of harassing behavior, being “knocked up by her acquaintance,” 

“mental and off her meds,” and, repeatedly and falsely, being “a disbarred attorney,” 

“retired to evade disbarment” among numerous other derogatory and harassing 

characterizations. 

58. On or about May 13, 2025, Plaintiff discovered that these defamatory and harassing 

statements were being widely disseminated among members of the “What the Hales” 

Facebook group, which Defendant Hales controls and in which he has a known practice of 

enforcing the use of his logo and maintaining a large, active membership. These statements, 
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including the false claim that Plaintiff is a disbarred attorney, have persisted and multiplied, 

with hundreds of publications visible in Google searches under Plaintiff’s legal name. 

59. From May 15, 2025, and continuing to date, group members and Defendants further 

escalated their attacks, publishing additional false statements implying Plaintiff is a 

transsexual, is “crazy and off her meds,” and suggesting that her professional motivations 

are fraudulent. These attacks have resulted in Plaintiff’s clients contacting her with concern 

and confusion, and an influx of online harassment, including hundreds of berating 

comments and harassing emails from individuals aligned with Defendant Hales, even after 

Plaintiff provided a sworn affidavit from the Florida Bar substantiating that she was not 

disbarred. 

60. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, and others, using their respective 

social media platforms and live broadcasts with substantial audiences, continued to publish, 

republish, and amplify these false claims. They falsely asserted that Plaintiff retired to 

evade disbarment, mocked Plaintiff’s appearance and mental health, and accused her of 

criminal or unethical conduct, including but not limited to accusations of involvement in 

“revenge porn.” These broadcasts and posts were frequently monetized through live 

donations and advertising revenue. 

61. Defendants acted with actual malice, or at minimum, reckless disregard for the truth. 

Plaintiff repeatedly provided documentation, including a sworn affidavit from the Florida 

Bar, disproving the allegations of disbarment and responding to cease and desist requests; 

nevertheless, Defendants persisted in disseminating the defamatory statements. 

62. These false and defamatory statements were published to large, international audiences and 

have caused significant and ongoing harm to Plaintiff’s personal and professional 
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reputation, subjected her to public ridicule and scorn, resulted in emotional distress, and 

caused economic harm, including loss of business relationships and clients. The 

defamatory conduct has also extended to attacks on Plaintiff’s family, including her 

children, and the creation and proliferation of online “hate sites” utilizing Plaintiff’s 

likeness and personal information to further harm her reputation. 

63. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered and continues 

to suffer damages, including but not limited to humiliation, mental anguish, loss of 

reputation, and economic harm. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further defamatory statements, costs of this action, 

and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT I(B): DEFAMATION PER SE 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

53. Under Florida law, a statement constitutes defamation per se if it imputes to another: (a) a 

criminal offense amounting to a felony, (b) a presently existing venereal or other loathsome 

and communicable disease, (c) conduct, characteristics, or a condition incompatible with 

the proper exercise of a lawful business, trade, profession, or office, or (d) serious sexual 

misconduct. 

54. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, 

individually and acting in concert, repeatedly published and republished false, unprivileged 

statements of fact regarding Plaintiff, both verbally and in writing, to third parties 
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throughout various social media channels—including but not limited to YouTube 

broadcasts, Facebook posts, and the public “What the Hales” Facebook group. 

55. Defendants’ statements included, but were not limited to, assertions that Plaintiff was “a 

disbarred attorney,” that she “retired to avoid disbarment,” that she was “knocked up by 

her acquaintance,” “she is a transexual” and that Plaintiff created “revenge porn,” and other 

statements alleging or implying criminal, unethical, and immoral conduct on the part of 

Plaintiff. Defendants further mocked Plaintiff’s mental health, accused her of professional 

incompetence and dishonesty, and made repeated derogatory comments about her personal 

life, appearance, and character. 

56. These statements were published to extraordinarily wide audiences, with several of the 

relevant YouTube channels and Facebook groups boasting hundreds of thousands of 

subscribers or members, and with content being disseminated internationally and appearing 

in online search results for Plaintiff’s legal name. In particular, the “What the Hales” 

Facebook group, operated and maintained by Defendant Hales and used as a platform to 

coordinate online attacks, was a central vehicle for the publication and repetition of these 

defamatory statements. 

57. The statements made by Defendants constitute defamation per se under Florida law 

because they directly impugn Plaintiff’s integrity, ethics, and fitness to practice law and 

engage in business, and falsely accuse her of conduct incompatible with her profession and 

of serious sexual misconduct. The repeated assertions that Plaintiff was disbarred, that she 

retired to evade disbarment, and that she engaged in criminal or morally reprehensible acts, 

strike at the heart of Plaintiff’s reputation as an attorney and a professional. 
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58. All such statements were false. Plaintiff has never been disbarred, nor did she retire to 

avoid disbarment. Her retirement from legal practice was voluntary and unrelated to any 

disciplinary proceeding, as evidenced by the sworn affidavit from her state bar, which was 

provided to Defendants. Defendants knowingly ignored this evidence and continued to 

publish and republish the false statements. 

59. Defendants made these statements with actual malice, or at minimum, with reckless 

disregard for their truth or falsity. Plaintiff repeatedly notified Defendants of the falsity of 

these claims and provided documentary evidence, yet Defendants persisted in the 

defamatory conduct. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ false and defamatory statements, Plaintiff 

has suffered presumed damages to her professional and personal reputation, standing in the 

community, severe emotional distress, loss of business and client relationships, and other 

damages to be proven at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants for compensatory and punitive 

damages, together with costs, interest, and any further relief this Court deems just and appropriate. 

COUNT II: INVASION OF PRIVACY 

(False Light, Public Disclosure of Private Facts, Appropriation, Intrusion Upon Seclusion) 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

53. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, 

individually and acting in concert, engaged in a sustained campaign of harassment, 

humiliation, and exploitation of Plaintiff’s private life through various social media 
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platforms, including but not limited to Facebook, YouTube, and associated online “hate 

sites.” 

A. False Light 

54. Defendants published and widely disseminated statements and content that placed Plaintiff 

in a false light before the public, including but not limited to: (a) falsely stating that Plaintiff 

was “knocked up by her acquaintance” despite her marital status; (b) repeatedly claiming 

Plaintiff was “a disbarred attorney” or that she “retired to avoid disbarment,” despite sworn 

affidavits from the Florida Bar to the contrary; and (c) falsely accusing Plaintiff of creating 

“revenge porn.” Referring to the Plaintiff as being a “Transexual” and “Off her meds” 

These statements were calculated to subject Plaintiff to public ridicule, contempt, and to 

mislead the public as to the true facts of Plaintiff’s life and professional standing. 

Defendants further mocked Plaintiff’s appearance, mental health, and sexual identity, and 

encouraged their followers to do the same through coordinated group activity and live 

broadcasts. 

55. Defendants knew or acted with reckless disregard as to the falsity of these statements and 

the damaging, false impression they would create about Plaintiff. Plaintiff repeatedly 

provided documentation disproving the statements, yet Defendants persisted and amplified 

the false narrative to hundreds of thousands of viewers and group members. 

B. Public Disclosure of Private Facts 

56. Defendants publicized private, non-newsworthy facts about Plaintiff, including details of 

her marital status, private communications, and aspects of her personal and family life. 

Defendants repeatedly discussed Plaintiff’s alleged personal relationships, career 
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decisions, health status, and other sensitive matters in public broadcasts and posts 

accessible to a vast online audience. Defendants also encouraged and facilitated the sharing 

of Plaintiff’s private information—including childhood photographs and other personal 

data—across hate groups and social media forums. 

57. The public disclosure of these facts, which were not matters of legitimate public concern, 

would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and resulted in Plaintiff’s clients, 

acquaintances, and family members being exposed to and contacting Plaintiff about these 

online attacks. The ongoing exposure of Plaintiff’s private life has caused significant 

embarrassment and distress. 

C. Appropriation 

58. Defendants, without Plaintiff’s consent, used Plaintiff’s name and likeness—including 

altered, humiliating photographs (such as images depicting Plaintiff as a clown, with 

exaggerated features, or as the character “Legally Lips”), and childhood images—to attract 

viewers, solicit donations, and drive engagement with their online content. Defendants and 

their followers exploited Plaintiff’s identity to increase the reach of their social media 

platforms, monetize content, and profit from live donations during broadcasts in which 

Plaintiff was targeted and ridiculed. 

59. Plaintiff’s name, likeness, and personal story were deliberately appropriated and exploited 

by Defendants for their own commercial and reputational benefit, without any legitimate 

interest or consent from Plaintiff. 

D. Intrusion Upon Seclusion 
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60. Defendants intentionally and egregiously intruded upon Plaintiff’s solitude and private 

affairs by recruiting and encouraging followers to create and maintain “hate sites” 

dedicated to attacking Plaintiff, orchestrating the mass publication of private images, and 

engaging in coordinated harassment campaigns. Defendants and their supporters obtained 

and shared private photographs, including childhood images, without Plaintiff’s 

authorization, and directly targeted Plaintiff and her family members through harassing 

emails and public posts. 

61. These actions would be highly offensive to a reasonable person and caused Plaintiff to 

suffer severe emotional distress, humiliation, and the loss of her ability to safely participate 

in social media or conduct her professional affairs without fear of ongoing harassment and 

reputational harm. Plaintiff was ultimately compelled to delete all her social media 

accounts to escape the relentless attacks and preserve her mental health. 

62. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered substantial 

damages, including but not limited to mental anguish, loss of reputation, economic harm, 

diminished professional opportunities, and the loss of enjoyment of life. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further invasion of privacy, costs of this action, and 

such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT III: INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS (IIED) 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 



25 
 

53. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, 

individually and in concert, engaged in a prolonged and coordinated campaign of 

harassment, ridicule, and humiliation directed at Plaintiff through various online and social 

media platforms, including—but not limited to—Facebook, YouTube, and associated “hate 

sites.” 

54. Beginning on or about May 5, 2025, and continuing to the present, Defendants published 

and broadcast repeated false and inflammatory statements about Plaintiff, including but not 

limited to: claims that Plaintiff was “knocked up by her acquaintance” (when Plaintiff is a 

married woman), assertions that Plaintiff was “a disbarred attorney” or retired solely to 

avoid disbarment (contrary to official records and sworn affidavits provided by Plaintiff), 

and accusations that Plaintiff created “revenge porn.” Defendants also discussed and spread 

false and salacious rumors about Plaintiff’s mental health, gender identity, and career 

motivations, none of which had any basis in fact. 

55. Defendants mocked and ridiculed Plaintiff’s appearance in live broadcasts and group chats, 

altered photographs of Plaintiff to depict her in a demeaning and humiliating fashion 

(including images portraying Plaintiff as a clown or with exaggerated features), and 

disseminated private and childhood images of Plaintiff to further subject her to public 

scorn. Defendants branded Plaintiff with derogatory nicknames such as “Lips” and 

“Legally Lips,” and encouraged their followers to do the same. 

56. Defendants deliberately solicited and incited their large online audiences—numbering in 

the hundreds of thousands—to participate in the harassment of Plaintiff, including the 

creation, maintenance, and proliferation of “hate sites” and coordinated social media 

attacks. These actions resulted in hundreds of defamatory and harassing posts, emails, and 
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comments targeting Plaintiff, which appeared in public search results and were seen by 

Plaintiff’s clients, colleagues, and family. The harassment extended to Plaintiff’s family 

members, including her children, and involved personal threats and continuous online 

stalking. 

57. Defendants persisted in their conduct even after Plaintiff provided all parties with sworn 

documentation from the Florida Bar disproving the allegations of disbarment, and after 

Plaintiff issued cease and desist requests in writing. Defendant Hales responded 

dismissively to Plaintiff’s efforts to halt the harassment, stating, “See you in Court,” and 

continued to encourage the defamatory and harassing conduct. 

58. Defendant Hales, in public videos and on his YouTube channel “What the Hales,” 

expressly stated that his intent in initiating lawsuits against his perceived adversaries was 

not to seek justice, but to “ruin” and “destroy” them financially and emotionally. Hales 

openly mocked and threatened those he was suing, including Plaintiff, to an audience of 

over 730,000 followers, further exacerbating the campaign of humiliation and distress. 

59. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff is a member of an ADA-protected 

class due to her disability. In spite of this knowledge, Defendants and their followers 

specifically targeted Plaintiff’s disability in their broadcasts, posts, and online comments, 

mocking her mental health and accusing her of being “crazy,” “off her meds,” and 

“mental,” and otherwise referencing her disability in a demeaning and stigmatizing 

manner. Defendants’ conduct was not only extreme and outrageous, but also demonstrated 

a callous disregard for Plaintiff’s federally protected rights and dignity. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct, Plaintiff 

suffered severe emotional distress, including humiliation, anxiety, depression, fear for her 
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safety and the safety of her family, and loss of business relationships and professional 

opportunities. The ongoing harassment and humiliation caused Plaintiff to become 

debilitated, depressed, and nearly hospitalized, and resulted in her being forced to delete 

all of her social media accounts in an effort to escape the attacks. Plaintiff’s reputation 

within her professional and personal communities has been irreparably damaged. 

61. Defendants’ conduct was intentional and malicious, or at a minimum, reckless, as they 

knew or should have known that their actions would cause Plaintiff severe emotional 

distress and would exacerbate Plaintiff’s disability. Defendants acted with actual malice 

and a conscious disregard for Plaintiff’s well-being and rights as an ADA-protected 

individual. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further harassment, costs of this action, and such other 

relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT IV: NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, 

individually and collectively, owed Plaintiff a duty to exercise reasonable care in the 

statements and content they published about her, and in their handling and dissemination 

of her private information and images. Defendants breached that duty by negligently 

publishing, republishing, and amplifying false, harmful, and offensive statements about 

Plaintiff—including but not limited to claims that Plaintiff was “knocked up by her 
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acquaintance,” that she was “a disbarred attorney” or had retired to avoid disbarment, and 

that she created “revenge porn”—without taking reasonable steps to verify the truth or 

accuracy of such statements. 

55. Defendants further breached their duty of care by allowing, encouraging, and participating 

in online harassment campaigns, including but not limited to: the recruitment of followers 

to create and operate “hate sites” targeting Plaintiff; the alteration and widespread public 

sharing of Plaintiff’s photographs, including childhood images; and the persistent 

publication of private, non-newsworthy facts about Plaintiff’s life, marital status, disability, 

and family. 

56. Defendants also failed to consider or safeguard Plaintiff’s well-being, including her status 

as a member of an ADA-protected class. Defendants and their followers repeatedly mocked 

Plaintiff’s disability, made stigmatizing comments about her mental health, and 

encouraged others to do the same—all without regard for the foreseeable harm such 

conduct would cause. 

57. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe 

emotional distress, including humiliation, anxiety, depression, fear for her safety and well-

being, and the loss of her ability to participate in social media or carry on her professional 

activities without threat of harassment and reputational harm. Plaintiff was compelled to 

delete all her social media accounts and has suffered tangible damage to her reputation, 

professional standing, and business relationships. 

58. Defendants’ actions were the actual and legal cause of Plaintiff’s emotional harm, and such 

harm was reasonably foreseeable given the nature, volume, and intensity of Defendants’ 

conduct and the vulnerable position in which Plaintiff was placed. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory 

damages, costs of this action, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT V: CYBERSTALKING / HARASSMENT 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

(Violation of Fla. Stat. § 784.048) 

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, acting 

individually and in concert, engaged in a sustained pattern of willful, malicious, and 

repeated conduct directed at Plaintiff through electronic communications and social media 

platforms, including but not limited to Facebook, YouTube, and associated online “hate 

sites.” 

55. Beginning on or about May 5, 2025, and continuing through the present, Defendants 

published and circulated false, defamatory, and highly offensive statements about Plaintiff, 

including but not limited to: accusations that Plaintiff was “knocked up by her 

acquaintance,” assertions that Plaintiff was “a disbarred attorney” or retired to avoid 

disbarment, and claims that Plaintiff created “revenge porn.” These statements were 

repeatedly broadcast to large audiences and disseminated through multiple online channels. 

56. Defendants created, maintained, and encouraged the creation of “hate sites” and public 

social media groups—most notably the “What the Hales” Facebook group—which were 

dedicated to attacking and harassing Plaintiff. Within these groups, Plaintiff was 

relentlessly mocked, defamed, and insulted by both Defendants and their recruited 
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followers, with hundreds of posts and comments appearing in internet searches under 

Plaintiff’s legal name. 

57. Defendants solicited, encouraged, and directed their broad online audiences—numbering 

in the hundreds of thousands—to participate in the harassment of Plaintiff. This included 

the alteration and repeated public dissemination of Plaintiff’s photographs (including 

images depicting her as a clown, with exaggerated features, or as “Legally Lips”), the 

sharing of childhood images without consent, and the publication of private, non-

newsworthy facts about Plaintiff’s personal and family life. 

58. Defendants used their online broadcasts and platforms to repeatedly and intentionally target 

Plaintiff. Defendants Hales, Rizk, and Hip hosted live YouTube videos and social media 

broadcasts in which they ridiculed, insulted, and defamed Plaintiff. Defendants Megan Fox 

and Umbrella Guy, among others, published daily content featuring ongoing ridicule, false 

statements, and personal attacks against Plaintiff, including attacks on her mental health, 

disability, and professional reputation. 

59. Defendants’ conduct escalated to include attacks on Plaintiff’s family members, including 

her children, as well as direct harassment through emails and public posts, causing Plaintiff 

to experience fear for her safety and the safety of her family. 

60. As a result of this extensive and ongoing harassment, Plaintiff was forced to delete all of 

her social media accounts to avoid further abuse, suffered emotional distress, humiliation, 

anxiety, depression, and tangible damage to her reputation, professional standing, and 

business relationships. Plaintiff’s ADA-protected disability was specifically targeted and 

mocked by Defendants and their followers, exacerbating the harm caused. 
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61. The conduct of Defendants constitutes cyberstalking as defined in Fla. Stat. § 

784.048(1)(d) and (2), in that Defendants knowingly, willfully, and maliciously harassed, 

cyberstalked, and repeatedly communicated with Plaintiff through electronic means, 

causing substantial emotional distress and serving no legitimate purpose. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further harassment and cyberstalking, costs of this 

action, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT VI: CIVIL CONSPIRACY 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. Defendant Jeremy Hales operates a YouTube channel and social media presence built on 

provoking controversy with third parties, frequently targeting neighbors, opposing 

attorneys, and others involved in litigation against him. His content is characterized by 

disparagement, humiliation, and mockery of individuals’ appearance, religious 

backgrounds, age, and other personal traits. As a result of this conduct, Defendant Hales 

has previously been the subject of stalking injunctions, including documented violations of 

such injunctions, and has faced public criticism and legal actions from various targets (see 

EXHIBIT B). 

55. Defendant Hales’ audience is primarily rural, ages 45-75, both male and female, and 

includes a significant international following. The thumbnails and promotional content 

used by Defendant Hales routinely depict neighbors and adversarial attorneys in a false and 
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disparaging light (see EXHIBIT A), contributing to a climate of public harassment that has 

discouraged legal representation for parties involved in disputes with him. 

56. This action arises from a deliberate, coordinated campaign of online harassment, 

defamation, and reputational sabotage orchestrated by Defendant Hales and his associates, 

including Defendants Megan Fox, Jay Hip, Rizk, Shizzywiznut, and others. Plaintiff, a 

retired attorney assisting her husband’s law firm, became a target after participating in a 

neutral interview concerning ongoing litigation involving Defendant Hales. Defendants 

then weaponized their significant online following to publish and amplify hundreds of 

false, malicious statements about Plaintiff, escalating from a single Facebook post to a 

wide-reaching campaign. 

57. These attacks, carried out across public Facebook groups and live YouTube broadcasts, 

included defamatory claims about Plaintiff’s professional status, personal life, and mental 

health, calculated to destroy her reputation and livelihood. Despite Plaintiff’s repeated 

efforts to correct the record—including providing sworn affidavits from the Florida Bar—

Defendants persisted, recruiting followers, encouraging hate sites, and profiting from live 

donations and increased engagement rooted in continued dissemination of these 

falsehoods. The conduct has caused severe, ongoing harm to Plaintiff’s personal and 

professional life, necessitating judicial intervention and redress. 

58. In furtherance of the conspiracy, Defendants knowingly agreed and acted in concert to 

engage in this coordinated campaign, jointly and repeatedly publishing false and 

defamatory statements about Plaintiff—including that she was “knocked up by her 

acquaintance,” “a disbarred attorney,” and a creator of “revenge porn”—on Facebook, 

YouTube, and other platforms. Defendants regularly coordinated their conduct by 
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appearing together in live video broadcasts, soliciting donations while repeating false 

claims, and encouraging audience participation in the harassment and defamation of 

Plaintiff. 

59. Defendants recruited supporters and followers to create and maintain online “hate sites” 

targeting Plaintiff, altered Plaintiff’s photographs to ridicule her, and disseminated private 

and childhood images of Plaintiff for public mockery. Daily broadcasts by Defendants 

Megan Fox and Umbrella Guy focused on Plaintiff, spreading false statements and insults, 

while Defendants Hip, Hales, and Rizk participated in livestreams reiterating defamatory 

claims and mocking Plaintiff’s appearance. 

60. These acts were not isolated, but part of a broader, orchestrated scheme masterminded by 

Defendant Hales to manipulate viewership analytics, silence dissent, and financially 

benefit those who participate in his campaign. Data analysis demonstrates that creators who 

align themselves with Defendant Hales—including Megan Fox, That Umbrella Guy, and 

Jay Hip—have experienced dramatic increases in online metrics and financial rewards, 

while those who refuse or attempt to expose the scheme are subjected to targeted 

harassment and reputational attacks. 

61. This systematic campaign to manipulate public opinion and stifle free expression utilizes 

fake accounts, cyber harassment, and intimidation tactics, with the goal of punishing truth-

telling and rewarding misinformation for personal profit. The consequences undermine the 

integrity of online platforms and the rights of individuals to express themselves freely, 

warranting legal scrutiny and redress. Evidence supporting these claims includes timelines, 

digital communications, and analytics data illustrating the existence and operation of the 

scheme (see EXHIBITS A and B). 
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62. Defendants’ collective goal was to harm Plaintiff’s reputation, cause her severe emotional 

distress, drive her from social media, disrupt her professional relationships, and “drain and 

ruin” her financially and emotionally, as expressly admitted by Defendant Hales in public 

statements and online broadcasts. 

63. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ agreement and concerted actions in 

furtherance of the conspiracy, Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer severe 

emotional distress, humiliation, economic harm, loss of enjoyment of life, loss of 

reputation, and damage to her business and professional relationships. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further unlawful acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, 

costs of this action, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT VII: TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS 

(Against Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and Others) 

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. At all relevant times, Plaintiff maintained valid, advantageous, and ongoing business 

relationships and expectancies with her clients, colleagues, and professional contacts, 

including through her work assisting her husband’s law firm. 

55. Defendants Hales, Rizk, Hip, Megan Fox, Umbrella Guy, Shizzywiznut, and others, 

individually and acting in concert, had actual knowledge of Plaintiff’s business 

relationships and professional reputation and intentionally, unjustifiably, and without 

privilege interfered with those relationships by engaging in a sustained campaign of 

defamation, harassment, and invasion of privacy aimed at Plaintiff. 
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56. Defendants repeatedly published and disseminated false, defamatory, and highly damaging 

statements about Plaintiff across multiple social media platforms, including Facebook and 

YouTube. These statements included, but were not limited to, false claims that Plaintiff 

was “knocked up by her acquaintance,” that she was “a disbarred attorney” or retired to 

avoid disbarment, and that she was involved in creating “revenge porn.” Defendants also 

repeatedly insulted and demeaned Plaintiff’s personal and professional character, including 

mocking her appearance and mental health. 

57. Defendants created, maintained, and actively encouraged the creation and operation of 

online “hate sites” and social media groups specifically targeting Plaintiff. They altered 

and publicly disseminated Plaintiff’s photographs, including humiliating edits and 

childhood images, for the purpose of ridicule and harassment. 

58. Defendants solicited, directed, and incited their large online audiences—numbering in the 

hundreds of thousands—to participate in the harassment campaign, amplifying the 

dissemination of false statements and defamatory content, thereby exponentially increasing 

the damage to Plaintiff’s reputation and business standing. 

59. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful interference, Plaintiff was 

compelled to delete all of her social media accounts to avoid further harassment and protect 

her well-being. Nonetheless, Plaintiff’s clients and professional contacts became aware of 

the defamatory “hate sites” and online attacks. Numerous clients questioned Plaintiff about 

these false and damaging statements, resulting in the loss of business opportunities, 

diminished client confidence, and irreparable harm to Plaintiff’s professional relationships 

and reputation. 
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60. Defendants’ conduct was intentional, malicious, without justification, and directly caused 

the damage and loss to Plaintiff’s business relationships and professional standing. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Defendants for compensatory and 

punitive damages, an injunction prohibiting further interference with Plaintiff’s business 

relationships, costs of this action, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable as a matter of right pursuant to 

Rule 1.430, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

A. Award compensatory, special, and punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial; 

B. Enter judgment in Plaintiff’s favor on all claims; 

C. Order Defendants to retract all defamatory statements; 

D. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

E. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 
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6/15/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, aka GEORGE HALES 

JOHN DOE (aka RAY HIP),  

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

NOTICE OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF TIMELINE OF PUBLISHED STATEMENTS 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE of Timeline with exhibits of published statements and Leslie 

Ferderigos reactive statements in response to online attack.  

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 

 

6/13/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
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TIMELINE 

On or about April 26, 2025 Leslie Ferderigos saw a concerning facebook post come through 
her news feed about Michael Volpe, whom she had known as a reporter since 2022. Upon 
receipt of this post, Leslie Ferderigos immediately reaches out to Michael Volpe to inform 
him. In response, Michael Volpe requests Leslie Ferderigos, to interview him, and give her 
perspective as a retired attorney on Jeremy Hales lawsuits filed against various defendants. 

At this time, Leslie Ferderigos, did not have but 7 subscribers, made up of friends, family, & 
clients that she used to upload and share videos with. At no time, was Leslie attempting to 
grow her channel with those following the Jeremy Hales lawsuits. Leslie Ferderigos had 
audio podcasts where she interviewed to educate the public on legal issues on Spotify, 
iHeart Radio, & Facebook. Leslie Ferderigos had never heard of Jeremy Hales prior to Michael 
Volpe requesting her to do an interview with him. 

On or about April 27, 2025, after Michael Volpe suggested Leslie interview Megan Fox, who 
was endorsing Jeremy Hales. However, at no time, despite confirmed receipt and multiple 
reviews of Leslie’s email did, Megan Fox respond to be interviewed. 

  

  



 

 

On or about April 29, 2025 Leslie Ferderigos Entertained an Interview request for Michael 
Volpe  

On or about May 5, 2025, Michael Volpe publishes his interview with Leslie Ferderigos, 
across multiple forums, including the facebook group. 

 

 

On or about May 13, 2025, Michael Volpe publishes interview on What the Hales Facebook 
site. Upon publishing, harassing comments were made about Leslie Ferderigos were 
published by those in contact with Jeremy Hales who had been harassing various defendants 
in Jeremy Hales federal lawsuits, such as Lisa Weeks, Supa Dave, Bruce, Rich Luthmann, as 
evidence by the voluminous preceeding posts viewed on this site. Many of the post are made 
anonymously or with muppet pictures and facebook profile that appear to be fake with no 



friends. Leslie Ferderigos reports this site multiple times to facebook. However, nothing gets 
taken down. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On or about May 15, 2025, Members of the Facebook group began posting that Leslie 
Ferderigos is a disbarred attorney, among voluminous insults & harassment. This has 
continued to date. Comments imply Leslie Ferderigos is a transexual, Leslie Ferderigos is 
crazy and off her meds, Leslie Ferderigos just wants to grow her YouTube channel. Clients 
begin calling Leslie Ferderigos to inform her they are seeing the online attack against her and 
feel bad for her. And within a day over 500 people subscribe to Leslie Ferderigos’ YouTube 
Channel, and begin making berating comments to Leslie Ferderigos about being a failed 
disbarred attorney. Additionally, Leslie Ferderigos begin getting harassing emails from those 
endorsing Jeremy Hales. 

Leslie Ferderigos provided all parties with the Sworn Affidavit from the Florida Bar. However, 
they continue to falsely state, Leslie retired to evade disbarment, and falsely post the 
reasons for her retirement. 



  



On or about May 16, 2025, Megan Fox, That Umbrella Guy, and Jay Hip begin to go LIVE in 
front of thousands of people stating and mocking Leslie Ferderigos as a failed attorney who 
retired to evade disbarment.  

On or about May 16, 2025, in response to the attacks Leslie Ferderigos began to create 
satirical videos series called the “HoDunk Hillbillies” & gives it to Lisa Weeks, Supa Dave, 
Bruce, Rich Luthmann, Attorney Bruce, & Michael Volpe to post after seeing how they were 
all being attacked by Jeremy Hales and his supporters  to depict how she was viewing this 
situation and attacks against her, not using anyone’s names & making it clear it was satire. 

 

 

On or about May 18, 2025, During the same week, Jeremy Hales goes live in front of over 
750,000 subscribers that same week making statements about a retired attorney who retired 
to evade disbarment. During this same time, YouTube Influencer, Jay Hip reports for Hales 
began publishing during their lives that Leslie Ferderigos is a disbarred attorney and 
corrected themselves stating she retired to evade disbarment. 

On May 19, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos files a lawsuit, later amending it that names Jeremy 
Hales, Jay Hip, George Hales 



 

On or about May 26, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos is informed to watch That Umbrella Guys’ Live 
with Megan Fox, where Leslie hear both these people make statements about how she 
retired her license to evade disbarment, amongst other statements that were harassing and 
dealt with her personal life. 

On May 27, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos amends her complaint to add Megan Fox and That 
Umbrella Guy after witnessing them making statements to imply she retired to evade 
disbarment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On or about May 21, 2025, Hate Groups mocking Leslie Ferderigos are created on 
Facebook, where Leslie Ferderigos physical appearance is mocked, with her name tagged 
publicly. Megan Fox, hosts a LIVE making a mockery out of Leslie Ferderigos’ lawsuit 
against everyone, encouraging an audience, while posting personal family law cases, 
involving Leslie Ferderigos 

 

From May 21, 2025 until May 27, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos becomes debilitated and 
depressed and deletes everyone of her social media accounts to evade the attack. 
However, they continue to attack her on multiple social media forums during LIVE and 
facebook posts, emails directly sent to her 

 



 



       

  



 



  



 



  



 

  



 

  



On May 27, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos opens a YouTube Channel for the purpose of having her 
own voice against those who are attacking her. Leslie Ferderigos begins making satirical 
videos mocking those who were attacking and spreading false statements about her. THIS 
IS AN EXAMPLE OF THE STYLE OF CONTENT CREATED TO REACT TO THE ATTACK 
PERPETRATED ONTO LESLIE FERDERIGOS 

 

 



On or about June 3, 2025. Supporters of Hales, in contact with him, begin to harass Leslie 
Ferderigos’ children and family. 

  



On June 7, 2025, YouTube Influencer, DJ Rattis, who is endorsed by Hales, and make 
money from his YouTube Channel, who is domiciled in Australia publishes a video, where 
he uses Leslie Ferderigos image, voice, and creates a false interview depicting her in a 
demeaning light, while tagging her legal name as the heading 

 



 



 

 

Leslie Ferderigos reports this to YouTube, and creates a satirical video tagging DJ Rattis’ 
name and challenging him to a dance off to try and make humor from the situation.  

DJ Rattis then creates an insulting song where he publishes it, using Leslie Ferderigos 
name, while calling her a fail, loser, amongst other insulting language. 

From or about May 6, 2025 until present, Ania Waterman, from Ireland, begins targeting 
and attacking Leslie Ferderigos, while commenting she is in touch with Jeremy Hales. 
Additionally, Jeremy Hales makes statements during LIVEs that Leslie Ferderigos is sending 
Ania Waterman Harassing emails. 

On or about June 5, 2025, Leslie Ferderigos reaches out to Jay Hip, in an attempt to settle 
everything to gain confirmation that he and the others will not keep falsely reporting about 



the status of her retirement. In this conversation, she says insults or one thing, but false 
statements affecting her professional reputation and livelihood cannot be tolerated 
because she works for her husband’s law firm and has clients and clients are seeing these 
posts questioning whether or not she was disbarred. In this conversation, Jay Hip informed 
Leslie, he is in contact with Megan Fox and That Umbrella Guy, and requested she drop 
them to. Leslie stated she would not be dropping the lawsuit, but as long as they would not 
continue to false report about her retirement status, she would drop both Megan Fox and 
That Umbrella Guy. However, the following week they are continuing to falsely report about 
Leslie’s retirement status. 

On or about June 7, 2025, Ania Waterman, sends an email harassing Leslie Ferderigos, in 
which Leslie Ferderigos, responds civilly trying to get her to stop. However, after Leslie 
agreed to apologize, because Ania Waterman told Leslie Ferderigos, she had autism, Ania 
Waterman begin posting publicly, clearly intended to make Leslie Ferderigos appear as if 
she is picking on a vulnerable person. 

  



  



 

  



 

 

  



 

  



  



 

On or about May 27, 2025 until present, Megan Fox & That Umbrella Guy continue to 
report that Leslie Ferderigos retired to evade disbarment, despite being emailed The Florida 
Bar’s sworn affidavit that evidences this is false. Megan Fox proceeds to claim she spoke to 
the Florida Bar and that Leslie retired to evade disbarment. She proceeds to call Leslie 
Ferderigos a crazy bitch and both her and That Umbrella Guy, make comments about Leslie 
Ferderigos mental health, claiming she is off her meds and crazy.  



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, aka GEORGE HALES 

JOHN DOE (aka RAY HIP),  

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

NOTICE OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT JEREMY HALES 

INTENTIONALLY ALLOWING “HATE GROUPS” UNDER WHAT THE HALES & 

HIRED INTERNATIONAL CAMPAIGN MEANT TO HARASS AND DEFAME 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE of Exhibits in Support of Defendant, Jeremy Hales intentionally 

allowing “Hate & Harassment” groups under “What the Hales” logo despite being noticed and 

informed and overt actions to recruit international campaign from others outside the U.S. 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 

 

6/15/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
 

mailto:mferderigos@gmail.com


Exhibit A 
 

 

  



 

  



 

  



 

  



 

  



 





 



















  



 

  























 

 



******This is not conclusive of all posts and evidence***** there are 100s of posts meant 
to harass, defame, and invade Plaintiff’s privacy*****  



 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, aka GEORGE HALES 

JOHN DOE (aka RAY HIP),  

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

NOTICE OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT JEREMY HALES 

DEFAMATORY PUBLISHED STATEMENTS DURING LIVE STREAMS 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE of Exhibits in Support of Written Defamatory Statements made by 

Defendant, Jeremy Hales published during Jay Hipsters LIVE Stream 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 

 

6/14/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
 

mailto:mferderigos@gmail.com


EXHIBIT A – On or about May 21, 2025, during a LIVE they talk about “Lips”, who Jeremy 
Hales (What the Hales) & his fans call Leslie Ferderigos is their LIVE streams 

 





 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF  

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LESLIE FERDERIGOS, 

Plaintiff, 

v.  

Case No. 2025-CA-004528 

 

JEREMY HALES,  

ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC. 

MARTHA GEORGE RIZK, aka GEORGE HALES 

JOHN DOE (aka RAY HIP),  

and JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

NOTICE OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT JEREMY HALES 

INTENTIONALLY REMOVING HIMSELF FROM E-SERVICE TO NOT BE SERVED 

WITH EXHIBITS 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE of Exhibits in Support of Defendant, Jeremy Hales intentionally 

removing himself from e-service 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 WE DO CERTIFY, that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished electronically with the 

Clerk of Courts by using the EPORTAL system, all parties of record. 

 

6/14/25       /s/ Michael Ferderigos 

Dated        Michael Ferderigos, Esq. 

        Bar No.: 604011 

        10454 Birch Tree Lane 

Windermere, FL 34786 

        Telephone 407-592-0035 

        mferderigos@gmail.com 

                                                                              michael@civilestatelaw.com 
 

mailto:mferderigos@gmail.com


Court: Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida
Case #: 482025CA004528A001OX
Case Style: FERDERIGOS, LESLIEvs.HALES, JEREMY et al.
Filer: Other Attorney/Interested Party 'jeremy hales' added by 'LESLIE ANN FERDERIGOS'

407-919-3939 has selected not to receive electronic service on this case

Outlook

Removal from Service List – Case Number 482025CA004528A001OX

From noreply@myflcourtaccess.com <noreply@myflcourtaccess.com>
Date Wed 6/11/2025 12:33 PM

This is an automatic e-mail message generated by the ePortal system. Please DO NOT RESPOND to this e-mail
as the mail box is unattended.

Removal From Service List

The following transaction was entered on 06/11/2025 12:33:24 PM ET.

This information has been electronically mailed to:

Name Primary Email Alternate Email 1 Alternate Email 2
LESLIE ANN FERDERIGOS LESLIE@CIVILESTATELAW

.COM
leslie@civilestatelaw.com

Michael Ferderigos michael@civilestatelaw.co
m

mferderigos@gmail.com

MEGAN FOX MeganFox.writer@proton
mail.com

JAY HIPSHER justjayhip@gmail.com
Ninth Judicial Circuit **********

mailto:LESLIE@CIVILESTATELAW.COM
mailto:LESLIE@CIVILESTATELAW.COM
mailto:leslie@civilestatelaw.com
mailto:michael@civilestatelaw.com
mailto:michael@civilestatelaw.com
mailto:mferderigos@gmail.com
mailto:MeganFox.writer@protonmail.com
mailto:MeganFox.writer@protonmail.com
mailto:justjayhip@gmail.com
mailto:**********


Outlook

Re: When Were Hales And Rizk And Elephant Shoes LLC Served In 2025-CA-004528-O Ferderigos Vs
Hales Et Al? Ferderigos' Drama Drama Drama Drama Is Just Provoking And Feeding Hales' Trolls?

From Legally Leslie <Leslie@legallyleslie.com>
Date Sun 6/15/2025 12:23 PM
To Lion News <lionnews00@gmail.com>

Last thing, I really don't care at this point what Hales has going on elsewhere. But I do care about the
defamation and online attack perpetrated against me that was initiated simply because I entertained a
request to interview Michael Volpe about this, having no idea who Hales was nor cared. During that
initial interview, I simply asked questions and was neutral. Immediately following Michael Volpe's
publishing of that interview, I was brutally harassed. This was unwarranted and has continued ever since.
Read the Court filed timeline, that I swear to with detailed evidence. You will see exactly when/date this
campaign against me started and ever since I have been fighting back to stop it. 

www.LegallyLeslie.com

For Real Legal Commentary 
SUBSCRIBE on YouTube & Rumble @LegallyLeslieForReal

For Satirical Depictions of Real Events 
SUBSCRIBE on YouTube & Rumble "HOT LIPS" at @HotLipsbyLegallyLeslie

Peace & Happiness!
Legally Leslie, aka "Hot Lips" 

LEGALLY LESLIE WEEKLY LIVE STREAMS
Tuesdays: LIVE "Jury Room" with Legally Leslie at 12pm EST

HOT LIPS WEEKLY LIVE STREAMING SCHEDULE 
Mondays: LIVE Watch me on "Two Lees in a Pod" on YouTube every Monday LIVE at 10pm EST for

Mischief Mondays 
Tuesdays: LIVE every Tuesday from 10am EST - 12pm EST for JURY ROOM (reporting on the HALES

Lawsuits) 
Wednesday: LIVE @ 12pm EST Troll Talk (Q&A Session to Address TROLLS Concerns) 

Friday: LIVE @8pm EST LIVE with HOT LIPS
Sunday: LIVE @8pm EST LIVE with HOT LIPS

Contact: Leslie@ LegallyLeslie.com
  www.LegallyLeslie.com

https://legallyleslie.com/
https://www.youtube.com/@LegallyLeslieForReal
https://www.youtube.com/@HotLipsbyLegallyLeslie
http://www.legallyleslie.com/


  www.LegallyLeslie.com

From: Legally Leslie <Leslie@legallyleslie.com>
Sent: Sunday, June 15, 2025 12:11 PM
To: Lion News <lionnews00@gmail.com>
Subject: Re: When Were Hales And Rizk And Elephant Shoes LLC Served In 2025-CA-004528-O Ferderigos Vs Hales
Et Al? Ferderigos' Drama Drama Drama Drama Is Just Provoking And Feeding Hales' Trolls?
 
Please know your email is being turned over to law enforcement to demonstrate the harassment, as a
case is being opened. You are welcome to follow the Court case with filings to see the truth in what is
going on. I have extensive evidence with a timeline of the attack initiated against me. The evading
service/notice, is evading e-service/notice of evidence connecting Hales to the online cyberbullying
attack that he continues to take himself off e-service. Formal service of the lawsuit has not been
initiated because I need to amend the complaint a 3rd time to add new evidence. Service/Notice is not
confined to Formal Service and notice of a lawsuit. You are missing the distinction. 

www.LegallyLeslie.com

For Real Legal Commentary 
SUBSCRIBE on YouTube & Rumble @LegallyLeslieForReal

For Satirical Depictions of Real Events 
SUBSCRIBE on YouTube & Rumble "HOT LIPS" at @HotLipsbyLegallyLeslie

Peace & Happiness!
Legally Leslie, aka "Hot Lips" 

LEGALLY LESLIE WEEKLY LIVE STREAMS
Tuesdays: LIVE "Jury Room" with Legally Leslie at 12pm EST

HOT LIPS WEEKLY LIVE STREAMING SCHEDULE 
Mondays: LIVE Watch me on "Two Lees in a Pod" on YouTube every Monday LIVE at 10pm EST for

Mischief Mondays 
Tuesdays: LIVE every Tuesday from 10am EST - 12pm EST for JURY ROOM (reporting on the HALES

Lawsuits) 

http://www.legallyleslie.com/
https://legallyleslie.com/
https://www.youtube.com/@LegallyLeslieForReal
https://www.youtube.com/@HotLipsbyLegallyLeslie


Wednesday: LIVE @ 12pm EST Troll Talk (Q&A Session to Address TROLLS Concerns) 
Friday: LIVE @8pm EST LIVE with HOT LIPS

Sunday: LIVE @8pm EST LIVE with HOT LIPS

Contact: Leslie@ LegallyLeslie.com
  www.LegallyLeslie.com

From: Lion News <lionnews00@gmail.com>
Sent: Sunday, June 15, 2025 11:39 AM
To: Legally Leslie <Leslie@legallyleslie.com>
Subject: When Were Hales And Rizk And Elephant Shoes LLC Served In 2025-CA-004528-O Ferderigos Vs Hales Et
Al? Ferderigos' Drama Drama Drama Drama Is Just Provoking And Feeding Hales' Trolls?
 
Leslie Ferderigos aka Legally Leslie: 

When were Hales, Rizk and Elephant Shoes LLC served In 2025-CA-004528-O Ferderigos vs Hales et al?
Do you have actual documentation from a process server that will verify that they were served? Or is
this just more of your drama, drama, drama, drama?? So-called researcher "Hot Lips" did you ever get
a copy of Hales' sworn statements in the petition
(https://www.supremecourt.ohio.gov/docs/JCS/domesticViolence/protection_forms/stalkingForms/10.
03D.pdf) for CV-2023-09-3595 Hales vs Preston? If your claim is that Hales weaponizes litigation, then
where is your proof that Hales obtained the Ohio injunction under false pretense? Press Release =
Unsubstantiated Drama! Drama! Drama! designed to provoke and feed Hales' troll, correct? If you are
such an "expert," then why aren't you filing amicus briefs in Ohio and Florida instead of all the Drama!
Drama! Drama!? Hmm? Inquiring minds want to know, don't they?

Terry Dean, Nemmers 320-283-5713
P.S. Did you notice that neither of your good buddies Hales nor Fox have mentioned my name even
once recently? But, then again neither has your no talent buddy Sean Martin, right?

Morg Hickman: Mob's only as tough as its leader. You only got one man to lick: Bogardus. Tin Star, The
(1957) Henry Fonda Morgan Hickman https://www.stockq.org/moviescript/T/tin-star-the.php  The Tin
Star 1957 Approved 1h 33m Top cast Henry Fonda Morgan Hickman Anthony Perkins Sheriff Ben
Owens https://www.imdb.com/title/tt0051087/?ref_=fn_all_ttl_2 

On January 19th, 2025 at approximately 1440 hours, I responded to 6251 SW SR 24 in reference to a
violation of injunction complaint. Upon arrival, contact with the complainant, Jeremy Hales, who was
actively videotaping our interaction. ... Later I had another opportunity to review the video footage
from the incident. Jeremy stated at the opening of the video that, “unfortunately, it’s time to drive past

http://www.legallyleslie.com/
https://www.supremecourt.ohio.gov/docs/JCS/domesticViolence/protection_forms/stalkingForms/10.03D.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.ohio.gov/docs/JCS/domesticViolence/protection_forms/stalkingForms/10.03D.pdf
https://www.stockq.org/moviescript/T/tin-star-the.php
https://www.imdb.com/title/tt0051087/?ref_=fn_all_ttl_2


these psychos”, however, there is an alternative route that Jeremy could travel, which would avoid
Lynette’s residence completely (northbound on N Otter Creek Ave towards US 19). Jeremy’s Ohio
protection order states that, “the court finds by a preponderance of evidence that 1) Respondent has
knowingly engaged in a pattern of conduct that caused Petitioner to believe that Respondent will
cause physical harm or cause mental distress; and 2( the following orders are equitable, fair, and
necessary to protect the person named in this Order from stalking offenses”. Being Jeremy is
apparently in fear that John Cook possibly cause “physical harm” or “mental distress”, it is peculiar why
he would knowingly drive the most direct route toward their residence, instead of seeking an
alternative direction to avoid them directly. ... Being that Jeremy is allegedly in fear that “physical
harm” or “mental distress” may come to him as a result of interactions with John or Lynette, I found it
odd that he would intentionally slow his driving speed while driving in front of the property. During
the recording, it was witnessed that Jeremy was raising his recording device above his head/roof,
outside of his vehicle. Lynette owns an approximate 6-foot tall privacy fence, which she uses to shield
her property from the view of the public. Jeremy was witnessed intentionally trying to see over it, in
order to garner a reaction from the inhabitants, and to witness elements within the property that were
not easily witnessed from persons of the public at the roadway. ... Based upon Jeremy’s statements,
the video provided , and the testimony of the subjects located at 151 N Otter Creek Ave, I have found
no probable cause to believe a violation of the Ohio protection order has taken place. From all
appearances, it seems as though Jeremy is trying to elicit a response from the parties involved, and is
provoking them into possibly committing some type of violation. Jeremy does not seem to be in fear
of physical attack, nor any type of mental anguish, as a result of being in such proximity to the
subjects. From all evidence collected, Jeremy appears to be purposely interjecting himself into the lives
of the other individuals. My interactions with all parties was recorded on my body-worn microphone,
and my in-car video camera was operational as well. Those recordings are available through UDE if
needed. A copy of the video footage collected was submitted to the “Files4Evid$” folder, and attached
as evidence to this report. Pages 4, 5. Original Narrative Author: Corporal D. MacIntyre #761 Date
Created: 01/26/2025 2013 Hrs. Levy County Sheriff’ Office.

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC4LR_mjSlQ4QynWbeotB3bg/community?
lb=UgkxiE7cItvppUc3rlEJPaTAdEhlNI7IYgc5 Two Lee's In A Pod Two Lee's In A Pod 10 hours ago 06-15-
25 FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: HALES' LAWSUITThe litigation before this Court is no different. Hales has
weaponized the court system, turning legal filings into fodder for his videos, all while soliciting and
receiving tens of thousands of dollars in donations under the guise of defending himself from
“attacks.” This is not the conduct of a wronged individual seeking justice—it is the calculated strategy
of a digital provocateur exploiting the legal system for views, influence, and profit.

https://myeclerk.myorangeclerk.com/CaseDetails?
cItem=NIbIG46ZkxO3QDRUbTZry9hcTTVNC3vKzyDoUvSgsQy8ODQoUwCpIvS9c48l86Uh2Ju0CLWrz6p
e0itN2NHPUqBnYOqMlmKnv1KXPWJmOOY%3D
2025-CA-00452 8-O : FERDERIGOS, LESLIE vs.HALES, JEREMY et al. JEREMY HALES  Defendant    LESLIE
FERDERIGOS  Plaintiff  LESLIE FERDERIGOS   ELEPHANT SHOE, LLC  Defendant    MARTHA GEORGE
RIZK GEORGE HALES AKA  Defendant    JOHN DOE RAY HIP AKA  Defendant    JOHN/JANE DOES 1-10
 Defendant    JASON HIPSHER JAYHIP AKA  Defendant    JOHN DOE (THE UMBRELLA GUY) AKA
 Defendant    MEGAN FOX  Defendant

https://www.law.cornell.edu/rules/frap/rule_29 Rule 29. Brief of an Amicus Curiae

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC4LR_mjSlQ4QynWbeotB3bg/community?lb=UgkxiE7cItvppUc3rlEJPaTAdEhlNI7IYgc5
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC4LR_mjSlQ4QynWbeotB3bg/community?lb=UgkxiE7cItvppUc3rlEJPaTAdEhlNI7IYgc5
https://myeclerk.myorangeclerk.com/CaseDetails?cItem=NIbIG46ZkxO3QDRUbTZry9hcTTVNC3vKzyDoUvSgsQy8ODQoUwCpIvS9c48l86Uh2Ju0CLWrz6pe0itN2NHPUqBnYOqMlmKnv1KXPWJmOOY%3D
https://myeclerk.myorangeclerk.com/CaseDetails?cItem=NIbIG46ZkxO3QDRUbTZry9hcTTVNC3vKzyDoUvSgsQy8ODQoUwCpIvS9c48l86Uh2Ju0CLWrz6pe0itN2NHPUqBnYOqMlmKnv1KXPWJmOOY%3D
https://myeclerk.myorangeclerk.com/CaseDetails?cItem=NIbIG46ZkxO3QDRUbTZry9hcTTVNC3vKzyDoUvSgsQy8ODQoUwCpIvS9c48l86Uh2Ju0CLWrz6pe0itN2NHPUqBnYOqMlmKnv1KXPWJmOOY%3D
https://www.law.cornell.edu/rules/frap/rule_29
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